IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MESSISSIPPI NO. 2007-CP-0/307-COA

Tommy Hamberlin

Appellant

٧.

State Of Mississippi

FLED

Appellees

NOV 29 2007 OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLANT

BY: TOMMY HAMBERLIN Petitioner prose

Respectfully Submitted,

Unit D-2, Area II, # 42740

P. O. Box 1419

Leakesville, Mississippi 39451

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO 2007-CP-01307-COA

Tommy Hamberlin

Appellant

v.

State Of Mississippi

Appellees

Certificate Of Interested Persons

Statement Of Incorceration

That the Appellant is presently held in the custody of Mississippi Department of Corrections, housed at the South Mississippi Correctional Institution, P. O. Box 1419, Leakesville, Mississippi 39451.

Statement of The Issues

- 1. Appellant's Guilty Pleas Were Involuntarily, Unwillingly And Untatelligently Entered;
- 2. Appellant's Counsel Rendered Unconstitionally Ineffective
 Assistance Of Counsel In Violation Of The Sixth And
 Fourteenth Amendment Of The United States Constitutions And
 Mississippi Constitution Art. 3, § 26, of 1890 (1972);
- 3. The Triul Court Erred And Abused Its Discretion As A Multer OF Law, When Denying Appellant's Post-Conviction Petition Without Causing The State OF Mississippi To Answer And/or Granting An Evidentiary Hearing

Statement Of The Case

This appeal results from the Warren County, Mississippi Circuit Court judge, Order entered on July 9, 2007, and ruling upon the Appellant's, [hereinafter Hamberlin] post-conviction petition, filed by Hamberlin on or about May 9, 2007, denying reliefs, absent causing the State of Mississipp, Warren County, District Attorney, to answer or granting, and/or conducting an evidentiary heaving. See CR. p. 4, 11, 80. That the Appellant timely filed his Notice of Appeal, accompanying motions on July 26, 2007.

See CR. p. 81, 82, 83, and concluding the trial Courts' August 3, 2007, Order granting Hamberlin in forma pauperis, this Court has jurisdiction. See CR. p. 84.

Statement Of The Facts

That on or about the July Term 2006, a Warren County, Mississippi Grand Jury, in No.06, 0181 and No.06, 0182, roturned two separate indictments. allege that Hamberlin committed a sell and deliver a certain controlled substance cocaine, on October 24, 2005, to a cooperating individual for the sum office. oo in money and on October 25, 2005 \$ 100.00 in money, United States Corrency in violation of Miss. Code 1972, Ann. Sec. 41-29-199(a) Furthermore, both the indictments charged Hamberlin a Second And Subsequent Offese, pursuant Miss. Code Ann. 8 41-29-147, and as an Habitual Offender pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 99-19-81. See CR. p. 12, 13, 14, 15, 14, 17, 18, 19. Because these indictments were brought by grand-jury, secrecy, Hamberlin was subsequently arrested on or about July, August 2006. See CR. p. 7.11, 8. Hamberlin retained the legal services of Attorney, Omar L. Nelson, to represent him, and who did represent him, with respects both the said indictment. See CR. p. 7, n.1. Upon several visits from Attorney, Nelson with Hamberlin at the Warren County Jail Detention Center, and after repeated discussion, refusals to a plea agreements, Nelson attempted to get Hamberlin to plead, Hamberlin became agitated consulted his immediate family members, who convinced llamberlin to maintain Nelson's legal services. See CR. p. 7, n. 1, 8 n. 1, 9, n. 1. Hamberlin in a first guilty plea proceedings, became ill during the proceedings, causing his hospitization. See CR.pg.n.t. On or about and between the times and dates Hamberlin was in the Hospital, Nelson, contacted and visited Hamberlin's family, still his efforts were to have Humberlin plead guilty to 8 years mandatory and that this would be all of the time of a 20 years sentence Hamberlin would have to serve in prison for all charges, but Hamberlin unconvinced, still said no, and refused the State's plea - bargain offer. See CR. p. 9, n. 1. On or about Feberary 7, 2007, at approximately 8:00 or 8:30 aim., and just before a 9:00 aim court trial schedule. Attorney Nelson at the Court house with Hamberlin. then asked

Hamberlin, if Hamberlin desired to relieve him from representing at this time, whereas, Hamberlin answered in the negative, however explaining to Nelson, it was then to late for him to hive another attorney in time for court, and Nelson, did not advise Hamberlin otherwise, ways that he could. See CR. p. 9, n.l. That at that moment of moments, Attorney, Nelson, knowingly under the circumstances of dovesa for Hamberlin, put, placed a Petition To Enter Plea OF Guilty in Cause Numbers 06-0181; 06-0182, and an Agreed Order Revoking Suspended Sentence before Hamberlin, for Hamberlin to sign, whereas due to a 1997 Stroke and glaucoma, and can not see far as signing his own name, and while dastardly, explained to Kamberlin, he was signing to an 8 years sentence mandatory, in Cause No. 06-0182 and that the 8 years would eat up the 7, 5 years 180 days sentences. See CR. p. 9, n. 1, 20, 21, 26, 30, 32, 33, Attorney Nelson, was very aware, that Hamberlin could not see well, especially as to know the substances of the petition to enter-plea of guilty and agreed order revoking suspended sentence, waiving a revocation of probation proceeding, on a probation 13 days from completion. See CR. p. 9, n.1. But, now, as Hamberlin declared in his swron declaration to the trial court, but for Appellant's conduct and concealment by his Attorney, during this guilty-plea proceedings, Appellant would not have pleaded guilty but would have insisted upon going to a trial. See CR. p. 8, n. 1, 9 n. 1. Furthermore, Appellant would not have waive his rights to a revocation of probation hearings and proceedings. Finally, Nelson ill advised Appellant, to lie to the trial Court, that no promises was made to Appellant in order to get Appellant to plead guilty, and that he had explained to Appellant, all of Appellant's constitutional rights, Appellant was giving up or waving, and that Nelson lied to the Court, that he had advised Appellant of such constitional rights Appellant was waiving. See CR.p. 10, n.1, 71, 72, 73,74,75.

Appellant notes for and request the Justices, to take judicial notices, that as presented the trial court in his per court-papers, even the trial judge, Assistant DA Michael Bonner, including Melson were aware of Hamberlin's inability to see, as each endersed medical papers and Knowledge Dr. David Prudhomme diagnosed Hamberlin of having a serious glaucoma-disease and requiring immediate surgery and just preceding the guilty-plea proceedings held February 7, 2007. Too, just prior the proceeding, while Hamberlin set in jail, as a bail was denied, Judge Vollor ordered Hamberlin's immediate release an a recognizance bond, on Dr. Prudhomme, so as to be treated, and recommended the trial judge that the surgery be performed by Dr. Herrington, Jackson Eye Associates, prior to Hamberlin's

Summary Of The Arguments

Appellant begs the Courts to note, where, as here, a prisoner is proceeding pro se, Courts take that fact into account and, in their discretion, credit not so well pleaded allegations, to the end that a prisoner's meritorious complaint may not be lost because inartfully drafted. 'Our constitutions and case law demands so much. See Moore v. Ruth, 556 sc. 2d 1059, 1061 (Miss. 1990).

To be enforceable, a guilty plea must emanate from the accused's informed consent. See Myers v. State, 583 30.2d 174, 177 (Miss. 1991). In the instant case, the guilty pleas Hamberlin entered February 7, 2007 could not have emanated from informed consent. See White v. State, 751 So. 2d 481, 483, 484 (Miss. App. 1999). Moreover, a defendant in the posture as Hamberlin, who pleads guilty to a crime is "prejudiced" by his counsel's erroneous advice if "he would have insisted on going to trial if he had been correctly informed " See Alexander v. State, 605 So. 2d. 1170, 1172-73 (Miss. 1992). Finally even if it is proper for trial court to suspend the execution of a defendant's sentence and later revoke the suspended sentence, without express imposition of probation, it is necessary for that court to base it's revocation on the violation of the clear terms and conditions of the suspended sentence. See CR. p. 19, Go, Gi, G2., see also Artis v. State, G43 Se. 2d. 533, 537-38 (Miss. 1994), as in Artis, supra, here there are none. See Id. Finally, and even in the context of a post-conviction petition, the Supreme Court has established the premise a complaint should not be dismissed for failure to state a claim unless it appear beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of his claim which would entitle him to relief. See Myers, Supra, Id at 179-80 (Miss. 1991) - Therefore,

attending any court proceedings, requiring Hamberlin's reading and writing -

· Arguments

1. Appellant's Guilty Pleas Were Involuntarily, Unwillingly, And Unintelligently Entered;

In Myers, a case factually on the mark with the case sub judice, the Courts stated, counsel's representation to the defendant that he will receive specified minimal sentence may vender a guilty plea involuntary. See Id. at 583 Sa. 2d 174, 177 (Miss. 1991). Thus, in the instant case, the only conclusion in which can be reached, Hamberlin's guilty pleas entered February 7, 2007 should be rendered involuntary in the cases of Warren County Circuit Court Criminal Cause Numbers: 06-0181; 06-0182- FV. Especially in this case, as Hamberlin's Attorney, lied to him regarding the sentence he would receive by having Hamberlin, under circumstances of duress, to sign legal documents, for a sentence, he knew Hamberlin, was not going to receive, but which legal documents, he well knew Hamberlin, due to serious glaucoma disease, could not "see", to know what sentence he actually was signing this document [8] for, too, Humberlin's attorney, advise Humberlin to lie and tetl the trial court that his guilty pleas had not been induced by promises of leniency (when in fact it had), thus, courts have held and holds, where the defendant, like Hamberlin, receives any such advice of counsel, and relies on it, as Hamberlin, declares under oath he did; the plea has not been knowingly and intelligently made, but to which too, Hamberlin declares . Id. 177-78. But what else could have eight (8) years, mandatory and that would be all the time Hamberlin would have to serve, been, but 'a "firm representation" of such lesser sentence, to which Hamberlin surely did not veceive. Id. 177-78. Therefore, Appellant urges the Courts, this issue has merits, and thus requests the Courts, as a matter of law, vacate the guilty pleas in this case, and/or reverse and remand to the lower Court for an Evidentiary Hearing". Id. 178. And, under principles of Artis, vacate Hamberlin's sentence of Five (5) years, in Warren County Great Court Criminal Cause No. 000059, as not and void, the transcripts do not reflect that the trial Court at the guilty plea proceedings, did not inform Hamberlin of any of the conditions, upon which could cause the revoking of Hamberlin's probation. Id, at 643 So. 2d 533, 538 (Miss 1994) . -52. Appellant's Counsel Rendered Unconstitutionally Ineffective Assistance Of Counsel In Violation Of The Sixth And Fourteenth Amendment Of The United States Constitutions And Mississippi Constitution Art. 3, § 26, of 1890 (1972)

In Alexander, "our Supreme Courts holds, when evaluating claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, this Court applies the standard set out in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1994). Under this standard, the claimant must show (1) that counsel's performance was deficient and (2) that the deficient performance was prejudicial to the defendant in the sense that it undermined confidence in the outcome. [Emphasis Added]. Further, where a defendant enters a plea on advice of counsel, the attorney's performance is deemed "deficient" for purposes of Strickland standard if it falls below "the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases." [Emphasis Added]. Thus, in Alexander, the Court held; that;

A defendant who pleads guilty to a crime is "prejudiced" by his counsel's erroneous advice if "he would have insisted on going to trial if he had been correctly informed. See Id. at 605 \$0.2 d 1170, 1172-73 (Miss. 1992).

In this case Hamberlin, alleges that had he known, that on the morning he entered his guilty pleas, that he could have hired another attorney he would have accepted Nelson's affer to relieve himself from representing him, also that absent running the charges concurrent to the eight sentence as an habitual, and if he could have seen the substances of the petition to enter plea of guilty, and known the actual substances, he would not have signed, or accepted the presecution's plea bargain affer, But, the worst case scenario, Hamberlin's, Attorney knew of Hamberlin's seeing impatrments, his previous, repeat to refuse the prosecution's plea bargain affers, to just the sentences, he preyed on Hamberlin, to get him to sign for, and even repeatedly consulted Hamberlin's family members, informing them that Hamberlin would receive the sentence, he knew Hamberlin would not and did not receive. See Alexander, sopra,

Therefore, as established by Mississippi Supreme Court's precedent, contends and complains, and maintains but for Counsel's, well calculated and erraneous advice, he would not have pleaded guilty, but would have insisted an gaing to trial, and consequently his counsel rendered unconstitutionally ineffective assistance of counsel doving the plea process. See Alexander, Supra; see also Readus v. State, 837 So. 2d 209, 211-15 (Miss. App. 2003). Therefore, Appellant urges the Courts, this issue has merits, and thus requests the Courts, as a matter of law, vacate the guilty pleas in this case, and for reverse and remand to the trial Court for an "Evidentiary Hearing". Id.

3. The Trial Court Erred And Abused Its Discretion As A Matter OF Law, When Denying Appellant's Post-Conviction Petition Without Causing The State OF Mississippi To Answer And/Or Granting An Evidentiary Hearing

In the instant case, the lower court summarily dismissed appellant's post-conviction petition and stating after it having examined the motion and transcripts of the Guilty Pleas of February 26, 2001 and February 27, 2001, along with the order and plea petition and found Hamberlin is not entitled to any relief. Appellant submits the Courts. That the procedural posture of an appeal from summary dismissal of a PCP " is analogous to that when a defendant in a civil action moves to dismiss for failure to state a claim. [Emphasis Added]. Readus v. State, 837 sc. 2d 209, 212 (Miss. App. 2005). Thus, us in a 12 (b) (a) dismissal, this Court reviews the record de novo to determine whether [the movant] has failed to demonstrate a claim procedurally alive substantially showing denial of a state or federal right. [Emphasis Added]. Id. 212. "In other words, has I the movent I allege facts which regains further inquiry in the expanded setting of an evidentiary hearing?" Id. 212. In this case, Hamberlin asserts the trial court should have granted an evidentiary hearing, as to whether his guilty pleas of February 7, 2007, entered knowingly, and voluntarily; and whether his counsel provided effective assistance during the plea process. Id. 212-13. Therefore, Appellant urges the Courts, this issue has merits, and thus requests the Courts, as a matter of law, vacate the

guilty pleas entered February 7, 2007 and order revoking probation in Eacse No. 0000 50, and/or reverse and remand for an "Evidentiary Hearing". Id.

Conclusion

Wherefore, These Premises Considered, And based upon the foregoing facts, arguments, authorities, the Courts inherent power, and the law as determined by the Supreme Court of the United States and Mississippi, grant Appellant the reliefs requested herein and any such other good and equitable reliefs the Courts deems Appellant is entitled.