COPY

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

EUGENE A. LOISEL, III

APPELLANT

FILED

VS.

MAR 26 2008

NO. 2007-CP-1807-COA

**OFFICE OF THE CLERK
SUPREME COURT
COURT OF APPEALS**

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

**BY: BILLY L. GORE
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
MISSISSIPPI BAR NO. [REDACTED]**

**OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
POST OFFICE BOX 220
JACKSON, MS 39205-0220
TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from summary denial of post-conviction relief sought in Harrison County, Stephen B. Simpson, Circuit Judge, presiding. (Appellee's exhibit A, attached)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On October 3, 2005, Eugene Loisel, a twenty-one (21) year-old Caucasian male with a 9th grade education (C.P. at 84-85), entered a voluntary plea of guilty to robbery less than capital in Harrison County. (C.P. at 84-87) Loisel told the plea-qualification judge, Kosta Vlahos, he was on drugs at the time he snatched a ladies purses outside a Winn-Dixie store in Long Beach. (C.P. at 83, 85)

Following his plea-qualification hearing before Judge Vlahos, during which Loisel was represented by counsel, Loisel was “. . . sentenced to Ten (10) Years suspend Eight (8) Years leaving Two (2) years to serve followed by three (3) Years Post Release Supervision, fine, court cost, restitution.” (C.P. at 88)

A provision in the sentencing order stated, *inter alia*, that upon Loisel's release he shall, *inter alia*,

“ . . . be committed to the Department of Corrections Restitution-Correctional Center, Pascagoula, until such time all costs of court are paid, or until appropriate officials of the Department of Corrections have determined that commitment to said institution will no longer benefit society or this defendant. [U]pon successful completion of this commitment this Court will be notified in writing of said release and the defendant will be transferred to regular probation to complete his sentence.” (C.P. at 90)

It is undisputed that successful completion of his commitment to the restitution center was a condition of Loisel's probation. Loisel subsequently violated the conditions of his probation by receiving two (2) RVR's (rule violation reports) shortly after arriving at the restitution center. (R. 3-4; Brief of Appellant at 2-3)

Loisel admits in his brief, and the record strongly suggests, that one of the violations was Loisel's presence in an unauthorized area, i.e., his bed, while the other was refusing to obey a correctional officer. (R. 3-4; C.P. at 15)

While claiming he didn't do so voluntarily and knowingly, Loisel states in his appellate brief he signed a paper waiving a preliminary revocation hearing, (Brief of Appellant at 4)

His probation was subsequently revoked following a brief but final revocation hearing conducted before Judge Vlahos on October 9, 2006. (R. 1-6; C.P. at 82, 92) Loisel was sentenced to serve seven (7) years and given credit for time already served. (C.P. at 82, 92)

Loisel also states in his appellate brief that “[a]t the time of defendant's revocation hearing, and hearing on motion to reconsider, [the] defendant was on mind altering medications for his pain and mental state of mind of depression, and making him very extremely nervous to where he felt as if he [would] pass out, which made the defendant extremely uncomfortable with or without counsel

present.” (Brief of Appellant at 6)

Loisel’s physical, mental, and emotional condition has not been fully developed in the record; rather, these observations are largely a product of statements found in appellant’s brief-on-the-merits.

On November 7, 2006, Loisel fulfilled the final requirement of the Administrative Remedy Program when an administrator found that Loisel had failed to provide enough evidence to support his claim. (C.P. at 79)

A motion to reconsider revocation of probation and the reinstatement of seven (7) of the initially suspended eight (8) years imposed by Judge Vlahos was heard on November 20, 2006. (R. 7-12) Loisel was represented at this hearing by Lisa D. Collums, *pro bono* counsel, who interceded in Loisel’s behalf and pleaded for a reduced sentence.

Ms. Collums also represented Loisel during his guilty plea as reflected by his petition to enter plea of guilty. (C.P. at 84-87)

In her argument before Judge Vlahos, Ms. Collums admitted that placing Loisel on a top bunk “. . . led to some of his issues over at the Restitution Center.” (R. 9) She conceded that Loisel had some minor violations that “would have justified some punishment.” (R. 9) She argued, however, that the full amount of the remainder of the sentence was excessive. (R. 9)

Moreover, she explained why Loisel had practically stood silent during his probation revocation hearing:

“Mr. Loisel tells me that he had some things that he would have liked to have told the court, but he was extremely nervous that day here on his own and did not present them or did not speak up and say them. (R. 9-10) * * * And it was only when he went to the Restitution Center that he had some of these issues that went on at that time.” (R. 9-10)

At the conclusion of this hearing, Judge Vlahos denied the motion for reconsideration stating:

“I will overrule the motion. I could have given him eight years but I gave him seven.” (R. 11; C.P. at 93)

Feeling aggrieved, Loisel, on April 23, 2007, filed a motion for post-conviction collateral relief claiming, *inter alia*, he was not afforded an opportunity to be heard or to prepare a defense.

Loisel also argued in his motion that Judge Vlahos did not have jurisdiction to revoke his probation because the State failed to prove any legal basis for revocation. (C.P. at 13)

Finally, Loisel claimed that Judge Vlahos failed to state in writing the reasons for revoking his probation. All of this, according to Loisel, violated his procedural due process rights. (C.P. at 6)

Loisel complains on appeal the prosecution never proved he was guilty of the conduct that got him the RVR's in the first place and the judge unlawfully re-sentenced him to seven (7) years.

Put another way, he laments he was improperly revoked to serve a full seven (7) years.

We have concluded, however, that Judge Simpson, who considered the motion for post-conviction relief together with the exhibits attached thereto, was eminently correct in denying post-conviction based upon facts stated in Loisel's post-conviction papers.

In short, Judge Simpson did not err in affirming the revocation of Loisel's probation and remanding him to the custody of the MDOC to serve seven (7) of the eight (8) years of his original sentence. **Deere v. State**, No. 2007-CP-00584-COA decided March 11, 2008 [Not Yet Reported], citing **Johnson v. State**, 925 So.2d 86 (¶11) (Miss. 2006).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Judge Simpson correctly ruled, in effect, that Loisel received all the due process Loisel was due. *See* Miss.Code Ann. §47-7-37 (Rev.2004); **Payton v. State**, 845 So.2d 713 (¶22) (Ct.App.Miss. 2003).

There is no automatic right to counsel at hearings for the revocation of probation. **Riely v. State**, 562 So.2d 1206, 1209 (Miss. 1990).

Loisel admitted to Judge Vlahos he received an RVR on August 20th for being in an unauthorized area. (R. 3) He denied he was disobedient to a female correctional officer (R. 3-4) but received an RVR anyway for disobeying a correctional officer's "direct order" to get out of his bed. (C.P. at 15; Brief of Appellant at 3)

In denying post-conviction relief, Judge Simpson found as a fact ". . . there was sufficient proof in the record to show that [Loisel] had in fact received the RVR's and was otherwise unsuited for the restitution center." (C.P. at 109) This finding was not clearly erroneous and provided an adequate basis for revocation of probation and reinstatement of seven (7) years of Loisel's suspended eight (8) year sentence.

Judge's Simpson ruling, we submit, was eminently correct.

"Mississippi law authorizes a trial judge to summarily dismiss a motion for post-conviction relief without the benefit of an evidentiary hearing '[i]f it plainly appears from the face of the motion, any annexed exhibits and the prior proceedings in the case that the movant is not entitled to any relief.' " **Buckhalter v. State**, 912 So.2d 159, 160 (¶6) (Ct.App.Miss. 2005).

"If a prisoner is under court imposed probation, that prisoner may be incarcerated if the conditions of probation are not followed." **Johnson v. State**, *supra*, 925 So.2d 86, 92 (Miss. 2006).

"Under Mississippi law, a trial court may only impose probation for a maximum of five (5) years. Miss.Code Ann. §47-7-37 (Supp.1999) . . . A suspension of a sentence does not automatically mean that the defendant will be on probation and under a duty to report to a probation officer. **It simply means that part of his entire sentence has been postponed pending the defendant's good behavior or such other conditions as the court may see fit to establish.**

Johnson v. State, *supra*, 925 So.2d at 93 quoting with approval the Justice Mills dissenting opinion in *Carter v. State*, 754 So.2d 1210-11 [emphasis ours.]

Here there was suspension as well as probation with conditions which Loisel failed to meet. The judge was entitled to “unpostpone,” if you please, “. . . *part* of [Loisel’s] entire sentence.” [emphasis ours]

Loisel’s motion for post-conviction relief was plainly or manifestly without merit.

We respectfully submit Judge Vlahos did not abuse his judicial discretion when he revoked Loisel’s probation and reinstated seven (7) years of his original eight (8) year sentence.

Loisel admits he signed a document waiving his right, if any, to a preliminary revocation hearing. (C.P. at 9; Brief of Appellant at 4) Loisel claims in his brief he was told that if he signed a waiver of his right to a preliminary or administrative hearing he would “get to see the judge quicker.” (Brief of Appellant at 4) This is not coercion; rather, it is simply a statement of fact. Waiving a preliminary hearing speeds up the process to a more formal final revocation hearing.

Moreover, contrary to Loisel’s position, Loisel was given an opportunity to be heard:

THE COURT: * * * Well you’re back here, what do you have to say. They don’t want you at the Restitution Center so what do you want to say? (R. 4)

Loisel also had an opportunity to summon the witnesses whose affidavits were attached to his motion for post-conviction relief.

Loisel, after receiving the benefit of an extraordinarily lenient sentence for robbery, could not, for some reason, cut the mustard at the restitution center and twice violated the rules. Judge Vlahos did not abuse his judicial discretion in finding that Loisel violated his probation. (R. 7-8)

Judge Simpson, in turn, correctly denied, summarily, post-conviction relief for the reasons stated in his order and opinion where he addressed each issue individually. (Appellee’s exhibit A,

attached)

During Loisel's motion to reconsider reinstatement of his seven (7) year sentence, lawyer Collums, a very capable attorney interceding *pro bono* in Loisel's behalf, made none - no, not one - of the arguments advanced by Loisel for the first time in his 77 page - including exhibits - motion for post-conviction relief. (C.P. at 5-82)

She never mentioned any assaults upon Loisel by correctional officers as alleged in a complaint attached as exhibit 3 to Loisel's motion for post-conviction relief. Indeed. all of this appears to have been handled administratively by the MDOC via its administrative remedy program. (C.P. at 79)

This observation simply detracts from the validity of his present complaints concerning, *inter alia*, his alleged disability, his altercation with a female correctional officer, the seriousness of the rule violations which he admits were lodged against him, a coerced waiver of a preliminary revocation hearing, and an alleged denial of procedural due process.

ARGUMENT

JUDGE SIMPSON'S DECISION DENYING POST-CONVICTION RELIEF WAS NOT CLEARLY ERRONEOUS. RATHER, THE MOTION WAS CORRECTLY DENIED SUMMARILY BECAUSE LOISEL'S CLAIMS WERE PLAINLY WITHOUT MERIT.

"In reviewing a trial court's decision to deny a petition for post conviction relief this Court will not reverse such a denial absent a finding that the trial court's decision was clearly erroneous." **Kirksey v. State**, 728 So.2d 565, 567 (Miss. 1999) citing **State v. Tokman**, 564 So.2d 1339, 1341 (Miss. 1990).

However, if questions of law are raised, then the applicable standard of review is *de novo*. **Jackson v. State**, 965 So.2d 686 (Miss. 2007).

In the case at bar, application of neither standard is sufficient to derail the decision of the circuit judge to deny post-conviction relief.

Loisel seeks to pigeonhole his case into the requirements for probation revocation articulated in the case of **Berdin v. State**, 648 So.2d 73 (Miss. 1994). While the efforts of Loisel and his writ writer are commendable, the circuit judge was correct, for the reasons succinctly stated in his two (2) page order and opinion, in holding them all for naught.

Admittedly, the final hearing in conjunction with probation revocation was quite brief. Nevertheless, Loisel was present for his hearing, and there are sufficient facts supporting the revocation by Judge Vlahos who was clearly reading from the file when he questioned Loisel about his RVR's. (R. 3-4)

The truth of the matter is that Loisel couldn't abide by strict rules and was found to be unfit for the Restitution Center. We agree with Judge Simpson there is sufficient evidence in the record - and Loisel admits - he received two (2) RVR's.

Loisel also admits in his brief the RVR's were issued for being in an unauthorized place and for failing to obey a correctional officer.

Even if minor infractions, Loisel failed to seriously contest them at his revocation hearing before Judge Vlahos although given an opportunity to do so. (R. 3-4)

It was not necessary for the probation "revocator" to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Loisel violated the terms and conditions of his probation but only that it was "more likely than not" that he did so. **Younger v. State**, 749 So.2d 219 (¶12) (Ct.App.Miss. 1999), citing **Berdin v. State**, 648 So.2d 73, 79 (Miss. 1994), quoting from **Murphy v. Lawhon**, 213 Miss. 513, 517, 57 So.2d 154 (1952), and **Wallace v. State**, 607 So.2d 1184, 1189-90 (Miss. 1992).

The proverbial "bottom line" is that Loisel failed to successfully complete the program

provided by the Restitution Center. This was a violation of his probation and suspended sentence which required him to successfully complete his commitment to the Restitution Center.

Loisel failed to do so.

The trial court was entitled to remand Loisel to the custody of the MDOC to serve the balance of his sentence, i.e., eight (8) years. See **Johnson v. State**, *supra*, 925 So.2d 86 (Miss. 2006), which held that suspending a sentence and imposing probation are distinct events. Judge Vlahos only gave him seven (7) years. (R. 5-6)

“If a prisoner is under court imposed probation, that prisoner may be incarcerated if the conditions of probation are not followed.” **Johnson v. State**, *supra*, 925 So.2d 86, 92 (Miss. 2006).

“Under Mississippi law, a trial court may only impose probation for a maximum of five (5) years. Miss.Code Ann. §47-7-37 (Supp.1999) . . . A suspension of a sentence does not automatically mean that the defendant will be on probation and under a duty to report to a probation officer. **It simply means that part of his entire sentence has been postponed pending the defendant’s good behavior or such other conditions as the court may see fit to establish.** **Johnson v. State**, *supra*, 925 So.2d at 93 quoting with approval the Justice Mills dissenting opinion in *Carter v. State*, 754 So.2d 1210-11 [emphasis ours.]

Here there was suspension as well as probation with conditions which Loisel failed to meet. The judge was entitled to reinstate “. . . *that part* of [Loisel’s] entire sentence.” [emphasis ours] He chose only to reinstate seven (7) years as opposed to eight (8) years.

Miss.Code Ann. § 99-39-11 (Supp. 1999) reads, in its entirety, as follows:

(1) The original motion together with all the files, records, transcripts and correspondence relating to the judgment under attack, shall be examined promptly by the judge to whom it is assigned.

(2) If it plainly appears from the face of the motion, any annexed exhibits and the prior proceedings in the case that the movant is not entitled to any relief, the judge may make an order for its dismissal and cause the prisoner to be notified.

(3) If the motion is not dismissed under subsection 2 of this section, the judge shall order the state to file an answer or other pleading within the period of time fixed by the court or to take such other action as the judge deems appropriate.

(4) This section shall not be applicable where an application for leave to proceed is granted by the supreme court under section 99-39-27. [emphasis added]

Loisel's post-conviction claims were properly denied because they were manifestly without merit.

**IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI
FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT**

EUGENE A. LOISEL, III

PETITIONER

VERSUS

CASE NO. A2401-07-00140

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

RESPONDENT

ORDER

THIS MATTER is before the Court on the *pro se* Motion for Post-Conviction Relief filed by the Eugene Loisel on April 23, 2007. The Court, having reviewed the Motion and exhibits attached thereto, finds and orders as follows:

Mr. Loisel entered a plea of guilty to robbery in cause number B2401-05-0537 on October 3, 2005. He was sentenced to a term of ten (10) years with eight (8) suspended and two (2) to serve followed by three (3) years of post-release supervision. As a condition of his post release supervision Mr. Loisel was to attend the restitution center. He entered the restitution center on August 16, 2006. On October 9, 2006, Mr. Loisel's probation was revoked for rule violations he received at the center. He was sentenced to seven (7) years and given credit for time served. A motion to reconsider the revocation of his probation was filed by counsel and was denied by order November 20, 2006.